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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

ROBERT D. SCHLAYACH, Individually
and as the Administrator of the ESTATE
OF KATHERINE E. SCHLAYBACH
Deceased,

Plaintiff,

V. : No. 5:1%v-3044

BERKS HEIM NURSING &
REHABILITATION; COUNTY OF :
BERKS; COUNTY OF BERKS, BERKS :
HEIM NURSING & REHABILITATION;
and TERRENCE J. BRENNAN,
Defendants.

OPINION
Defendants Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim—GRANTED

Joseph F. Leeson, Jr. January 22, 2020
United States District Judge

l. INTRODUCTION

This case arisesut of the death of Katherine E. Schlaybach (“the decedent”), a resident
of Berks Heim Nirsing and Rhabilitation a nursing home owned and managed by Berks
County, PennsylvaniaPlaintiff, Robert D. Schlaybach, Individually and as the Administrator of
the Estate of Katherine E. Schlaybach, Deceé$ddintiff’) , contends the acts and omissions of
Defendant8erks Heim NursingndRehabilitation(“the facility”), the County of Berks (“the
County”),and Terrence Brennan (“Brennanthe facility’s administrator, resulted in the
decedensuffering a falland subsequently passing aw&aintiff assert€laims for negligence
and wrongful death, as wellclaimfor violation of the decedent’s federal constitutional and

statutory rights.
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Defendantsnove to dismisshe Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”), ECF No. 7,
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a viainte See
generallyDefs.” Mem, ECF No. 9.Forthe reasons set forth below, Defendants’ motion to
dismissthe SAC is granted, and the SAC is dismissed.

I. BACKGROUND

A. Facts Alleged in theSecond AmendedComplaint

The following facts are drawn from ti8AC and are accepted as true, with all reasonable
inferences drawn iRlaintiff's favor. See Lundy v. Monroe Cty. Dist. AttorreQffice No.
3:17-CV-2255, 2017 WL 9362911, at *1 (M.D. Pa. Dec. 11, 20def)ort and recommendation
adopted 2018 WL 2219033 (M.D. Pa. May 15, 201&nportantly, the following recitation
does not include conclusory assertions or legal contentions. Although both are prevalent in the
SAC, neither need be considered by the Court in determining the viability of Rlsiciaims.

See Brown v. Kaiser Found. Health Plan of Mid-Atl. States, Nw. 1:19€V-1190, 2019 WL
7281928, at *2 (M.D. Pa. Dec. 27, 2019).

The SAC avers thddefendants held themselves out as specialists in the field of adult
nursing care with the expertise essary to maintain the health and safety of persons unable to
care for themselvesSAC 113. As a resulthie decedent was transferred into the Defendants’
care on April 27, 201, Avhereshe remainedntil the fall whichresulted in hedeath Id. 11 12,

15. A the timethe decedenwas transferretb their care, Defendants knew shdfered from
Alzheimer’s disease, dementia, and ambulation dysfunction, and required assigtharadl of
her daily functions.Id. {1 17-18. This included one persondesisancewhen the decedent
would attempt testard or walk. 1d. § 18. According to the SAC, despite knowing that the

decedent required fafirevention alarms in order to avoid foreseeable and preventable falls,
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Defendants fided to utilizesuchalarms and generally failed to utilize basic fallevention
measuresid. Y 19, 21.

In June 2017, the decedent began demonstriattmgased restlessness and unassisted
attempts to stand from her wheelchair. SAC 1@6.July 3 and 5, 2017, shéempted to stand
from her wheelchair unassistefdl. § 22. On July 6, 2017, at approximately 6:41 p.m., the
decedent stood up from her wheelchair and fell onto the floor, injuring helideff.24. The
SAC contends thdiasic faltprevention measuragerenot in place at the time of the decedent’s
fall. 1d. 1123-24. Immediately after her fall, the decedent complained of pain in hehipght
and leg.1d. 1 25. According to the SAC, instead of takiegsonable action to evaluate her
condition or seek appropriate medical treatmBetfendants simply placed the decedent in her
bed. Id. 1125-26.

Throughout the night, the decedent continued to express pain in her rigBd€d] 27.
At 2:31 a.m. on July 7, 2017, Defarts’ nursing staff evaluated the decedentrasicted that
her right leg was larger than her left leg and that Tylenol given for paimefhsctive. Id. T 28.
Despite this observation, according to the SAC, Defendants failed to properly dotiement
declining condition, and failed to contact a physician or seek appropriate meshtalent for
the decedent until approximately 10:00 alah. 29-30. At that time, emergency medical
personnel arrived at the facilignd transported the decedent t® ¢éimergency room at Reading
Hospital. Id. 11 30-31. It was there she was diagnosed with a right hip fracture and significant
gastrointestinal bleedindd.  31. On July 10, 2017, the decedent passed al@ay.32. The
cause of her death was Gl Bleeding, Hip Fracture, and Chronic Atrialdibnl 1d. T 33.

Plaintiff avers that Defendants and their agents, officers, servants, angeespliailed,

refused, and/or neglected to perform their duties to providerrabsoand adequate health care
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to the decedentSAC 1 16. Specifically, Defendants failed to update the decedent’s plan of care
when her medical condition indicated an ongoing and increasing riskfféaléd to recognize
the decline in her abilityotsafely ambulate and to assist her accordingly, and failed to recognize
she was injured even after they knew she had falinTheir failure to fulfill their duties,
according to the SAC, resulted in the decedent’s dddtif|{34-35, 41-44.

Plaintiff additionally alleges that the decedent’s fall resulted from “dangeand
defective personal property as defined by 42 Pa. C.S. § 8542, specifically, the dangerous,
defective, broken and/or inoperable wheelchair being used by [the decedent]ch fawed to
prevent [her] from standing and falling.” SAGLY. Similarly, the SAC alleges that “[t]he
records of Defendants were not complete and properly maintained by theanstaifnployees
so as to accurately and completely disclose the condifi®taintiff’'s Decedent and her health,
symptoms§,] and other iliness indications for evaluation and interventiod.Y 47.

Based on these allegatierand many more which are not recited here owing to their
conclusory nature—Plaintiff purports to assert the following causes of dctiegligence,
against all Defendants (Count 1); violation of the decedent’s federalighitk pursuant to 42
U.S.C. 8§ 1983, against all Defendants (Counts Il and Ill); “vicarious liabiétainst all
Defendants (Cant IV); “corporate liability” against all Defendants (Count V); wrongful death,
against all Defendants (Count VI); and a “surviaetion” against all Defendants (Count VII).

SAC1155-119.

1 In recitingthe counts of the SAC here, the Court does not endorse thetatiagproper

or viable causes of action (as opposefibtms of liability, which several clearlglo, as discussed
below).
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B. Procedural Background

Plaintiff filed the initial Complaint in this mattém the Berks County Court of Common
Pleason or about April 24, 2019SeeECF No. 1. On June 18, 2019, Plaintiff filed an Amended
Complaint, which, unlike the initial Complaint, asserted federal caafssstion. SeeECF No.
9, Ex. A. On July 12, 2019, the case was removed to this CeeeECF No. 1. Shortly
thereafter, on July 22, 2019, this Court approved a stipulation allowing Plaintiff to $éeand)
Amended Complaint, which was subsequently filed on August 8, 2019, and modified on August
9, 2019. SeeECF Nos. 5-7. The Second Amended Complaint remains the operative pleading in
this case On August 22, 2019, Defendants filed the instant motion to disi8esECF No. 9.
Plaintiff filed a response in opposition to the motion on September 5, 20dRCF No. 10, and
Defendants filed a reply in further support of their motion on September 12,<2@ECF No.
11.
[I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662 (2009), ttieupremeCourtclarified the appropriate
civil actionpleading standard arsit forth a twestepapproach to be utilized in decidiag
motion to dismisrought under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(6jailure to state a
claim. First, district courts are to “identify [ ] pleadings that, because they are no more than
conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption of truih.at 679;see id.at 678 (“A pleading
that offers ‘labels and conclusions’ or ‘a formulaic recitation of tements of a cause of action
will not do.” (quotingBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) Thourot v.
Monroe Career & Tech. InstNo. CV 3:14-1779, 2016 WL 6082238, at *2 (M.D. Pa. Oct. 17,
2016) (explaining that “[a] formulaic recitatiof the elements of a cause of action” alone will

not survive a motion to dismiss). Though “legal conclusions can provide the framework of a

5
012220



complaint, they must be supported by factual allegatioltgdl, 556 U.S. at 679. Second, if a
complaint contains “welpleaded factual allegations, a court should assume their veracity and
then determine whether they plausibly give rise to an entitlement to rdlief."A claim has

facial plausibility when the pintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the
reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct allédjemt 678. This

standard, commonly referred as tipgatisibility standard,” “is not akin to a ‘probability
requirement,’ but it asks for more than a sheer possibility that a defendantddhsialetvfully.”
Id. (citing Twombly 550 U.S. at 556-57)lt is only where the “[flactual allegations . . . raise a
right to relief above the speculative level” that thaimtiff has stated a plausible clafPhillips
v. Cty. of Alleghenys15 F.3d 224, 234 (3d Cir. 2008) (quotihgombly 550 U.Sat555).
TheCourt’s task thein deciding a motion to dismigsr failure to state a clains to
determine whethebased upothe facts as alleged, which deden as true, and disregarding
legalconclusions and conclusory assertions, the complaint stalaisn for reliefthat is
plausible on its facelgbal, 556 U.Sat679 Ashford v. FranciscoNo. 1:19€V-1365, 2019 WL
4318818, at *2 (M.D. Pa. Sept. 12, 2019) (“To avoid dismissal underlR(6), acivil
complaintmust set out sufficient factual matter to show that its claims are facially plausible.”)
Thescope of whaa courtmay consider in adjudicating a Rule 12(b)(6) motgn

necessarily constrained courtmay*“consider only theeomplaint, exhibit@attachedo

the complaint, matters of public record, as well as undisputedly authentic docifrttents

2 As the Supreme Court counseled, g@rmining whether a complaint states a plausible
claim for relief . . . [is] a contexgpecific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its
judicial experience and common senskgbal, 556 U.S. at 679.
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complainant’s claims are based upon these docum&niisited States v. GertsmaNo. 15-
8215, 2016 WL 4154916, at *3 (D.N.J. Aug. 4, 2016) (quoBngdotti v. Legal Helpers Debt
Resolution, L.L.G.716 F.3d 764, 772 (3d Cir. 20}.3)
V. ANALYSIS

As an initial matterthe Court must address the Pennsylvania Political Subdivision Tort
Claims Act, 42PA. CONST. STAT. 8§ 8541. That statute provides that, but for several exceptions,
“no local agency shall be liable for any damages on account of any injury to a pepsopesty
caused by any act of the local agency or an employee thereof othem person.”ld. “Under
the terms of the statute, local agencies are immune from suits alleging medicatticaljprathe
negligence of employees in municipally owned health care facilitiésahson v. Valley Crest
Nursing Home755 F.2d 46, 52 (3d Cir. 1985). Both the ligi Berks Heim Nursing &
Rehabilitation, and the County, which owns and operates the facility, fall withgttpe of
“local agency” as that term is definadthe statuté¢ See42 . CONST. STAT. § 8501 Kranson
755 F.2d at 53. Moreover, none of the statutory exceptions to immunity appfy Sesd2 P.

CONST. STAT. 8§ 8542(b). It follows that Plaintiff's claim for negligence cannot succeetiihas

3 Additionally, a court adjudicating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion may take judicial notice

certain undisputed factsSee Devon Drive Lionville, LP v. Parke Bancorp, IiNn. CV 15-
3435, 2017 WL 5668053, at *9 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 27, 2017).

4 Although Plaintiff does not explicitly plead it, the Court takes judicial notice ofattte
that Berks Heim Nursing & Rehabilitation is owned and operated by Berks County,
Pennsylvania.See Moyer v. Berks Heim Nursing HomMe. 13CV-4497, 2014 WL 1096043, at
*1 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 20, 2014). Moreover, there are no allegations against the individual
DefendantTerrence J. Brennan, that would support a claim for liability against him in his
individual, rather than official capacity. The suit against Brennan in his offegpeacity is no
different than the suit agnst the municipal DefendantSee Whaumbush v. City of
Philadelphig 747 F. Supp. 2d 505, 510 n.2 (E.D. Pa. 3010

5 Section 8542(b) waives immunity for vehicle liability, liability arising frore ttare,
custody, or control of personal property, real property, trees, traffic controlsreetlighting,
utility service facilities, streets, sidewalks, animals, and liability arising fromat@buse.
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claim is dismissedccordingly. SeeMoyer v. Berks Heim Nursing Homéo. 13-CV-4497,
2014 WL 1096043, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 20, 20{4he parties do not contest that Berks
County and Berks Heim Nursing Home are immune from claims of medical ntalprac
Kranson 755 F.2dat 53(upholding a county-run nursing home’s immunity from negligence
liability under Section 8541)Plaintiff’'s claim brought undePennsylvania’s wrongful death
statute is similarly defeated by immunftySee Panas v. City of PhiladelphB71 F. Supp. 2d
370, 376 (E.D. Pa. 2012)T]he Tort Claims Actf | bars Plaintiffswrongful death . . clain ]
against the City).

Pennsylvania’s Tort Claims Act does not, however, immunize local agenciestaga
constitutional torts, and Plaintiff’'s claim brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8i$39B8refore not
affected by Section 854IThomas v. Cty. of Chester, Pocopson HaBd@ F. Supp. 3d 448, 453
n.26 (E.D. Pa. 2018)[T] he PSTCA does not affect § 1983 claimsThis claim which
appeasin Counts Il and Il of the SAQs the only other substantive cause of actiegerted by
Plaintiff beyondhis claims fomegligenceand wrongful death. Indeed, Counts IV, V, and VII—

titled “vicarious liability,” “corporate liability,” and “survival action,” rpectively—are not
independentauses of ain. Rather, they areasedor extending liabilityincident to a cause of
action (in the case ofcarious and corporate liability3ee Jiminez v. All Am. Rathskeller, |nc.
No. 4:04€CV-1897, 2005 WL 8167979, at *12 (M.D. Pa. Apr. 1, 200%)carious liability is

not a causef actionin and of itself, but allows for a party to be liable for the negligent actions

of another party), or the continuation of a right of action which accrued to the deceased at

6 A wrongful death claim is a claim for “damages sustained by the plaintiff bpmeazt

the decedent’s death,” to succeed on which a plaintiff must establish “thafd¢inelants were
negligent with respect to the care of [the decedemphlan v. Ridge58 F. Supp. 2d 604, 607-
08 (E.D. Pa. 1999).
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common law ifr the case of a sumal action),seeDonlan v. Ridge58 F. Supp. 2d 604, 607-08
(E.D. Pa. 1999) (explaining that “unlike a wrongful desattion,” a survival actioni$ not anew
cause ofaction, but merely continues in the personal representative the rigttiarfwhich
accrued to the deceased at common lawhe Court therefore turns to addressimg viability
of Plaintiff's Section 1983 claim.

Although Countdl and Il of the SACare eachitled “civil rights action pursuant to 42
U.S.C. § 1983,” they do not apeto allege distinct bases for Section 1983 liabilRather, the
heart of Plaintiff's Section 1983 claim appears to be based on Defendants’ adlibgyexitb
establish adequate policies for training and supervision of medical and nurffibg sta
implement federal and state statutory regulatory requirements,” or, if slickep were in place,
Defendants’ failure to prevent “a pattern and practice of their violation bjogegs.” SAC
69. The Court analyzd¥aintiff's Section 1983 claim with i construction in mind.

A. Legal Principles: 42 U.S.C. § 1983nd Municipal Liability

Title 42 U.S.C. 8 1983 provides as follows:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or

usage, of angtate . . subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United

States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights

privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to

the party injured iran action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for

redress . . .

Section 1983i$ notitself a source of substantivights’; rather,the statutes a “method for

vindicatingfederalrightselsewhere conferred by those parts ofliinged States Constitution

and federal statutes that it describeBdker v. McCollan443 U.S. 137, 145 n.3 (1979)

! Admittedly, the Court’s ability to determinkealleged basis (or bases) for Section 1983

liability is made difficult by the lengtandnature of the SAC as to this claior example,
Count Il of the SAC contains approximately 70 paragraphs and subparagraphs fillétgaly
conclusory and repetitive language.
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Grammer v. John J. Kane Reg'l Cent&ten Hazel570 F.3d 520, 525 (3d Cir. 2009)
(explaining thaSection 1983 “is a vehicle for imposing liability against anyone who, under
color of state law, deprives a person of ‘rights, privileges, or immuniteses by the
Constitution and laws™ (quotinijlaine v. Thiboutot448 U.S. 1, 4-6 (1980))3eeThree Rivers
Ctr. for Indep. Living v. Hous. Auth. of City of PittsburB82 F.3d 412, 422 (3d Cir. 2004)
(“Once the plaintiff establishes the existence of a federal right, there anigbattable
presumption that the right is enforceable through the remedy of § 1988.5tate a viable
claim pursuant to Section 1983, a plaintiff must alletyed*essential elements: (1) that the
conduct complained of was committed by a person acting under color of staéath(2) that
the conduct deprived the plaintiff of rights, privileges, or immunities securétebgonstitution
or laws of the United Stad€ Schneyder v. Smitb53 F.3d 313, 319 (3d Cir. 201(Tjting Kost
v. Kozakiewicz] F.3d 176, 184 (3d Cir. 1993)

Because Defendaniis this matter—a county-run nursing home, its administrator, and the
countyowner/operator— are “municipal” entitie$ the Court must addretise scope and nature
of municipal liabilityin the context of Section 1983 Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servd. @ity of
New York436 U.S. 658 (1978), the Supreme Court overruled its holdiNgpioe v. Papé¢hat
“Congress did not undertake to bring municipal corporations within the ambit of [§ 10885
U.S. 167, 187 (1961)SinceMonell, it has been well settled thiaical governmentsanbe liable

as “persons” under Section 1983; howekis liability extends only totheir ownillegal

8 Local governments, whether of counties, towns, cities, or villages, arelgenera
considered to be “municipal corporations” in the context of Section 1988, e.gReitz v. Cty

of Bucks 125 F.3d 139, 144 (3d Cir. 1997).

o In reversing course from its decisionRape the Court irMonell stated as follows:

“[o] ur analysis of the legislative history of the Civil Rights Act of 1871 compels théustmt

that Congresdid intend municipalities and other local government units to be included among
those persons to whom 8§ 1983 applies.” 436 U.S. at 690 (emphasgnaln
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acts” Connick v. Thompsei63 U.S. 51, 60 (2011) (emphasis in original) (quodegbaur v.
Cincinnati, 475 U.S. 469, 479 (1986keeMonell, 436 U.S., at 665-83This limitation is a
corollaryof the established principle that municipalitiese not vicariously liable under
§ 1983for their employeésactions.” Connick 563 U.S. at 60Monell, 436 U.S. at 691 [A]
municipality cannot be held liabsolelybecause it employs a tortfeasewnr, in other words, a
municipality cannot be held liable under § 1983 waspondeat superiaheory.”) (emphasis in
original).

To avoid Section 1983 municipal liability cafising into vicarious liabilitya Section
1983 plaintiff seeking to recover against a municipality must, in the context of a Ri)&5).2(
motion to dismissplead that the complainesf injury was caused directly by a local
government’s “policy or custom, whether made by its lawmakers or by thoussevedicts or
acts may fairly be said to represent official poli¢§.Harris v. City of Philadelphial71 F.
Supp. 3d 395, 400 (E.D. Pa. 2016) (quotihgnell, 436 U.S. at 694)That is to say, a municipal
policy or custom—as opposed to the independent conduct of a municipal employee—must be the
“driving force” behind the alleged harnweston v. City of Philadelphi&2 F. Supp. 3d 637,
649 (E.D. Pa. 2015). In this conteatmunicipal “[pJolicy is made when a decision maker
possessing final authority to establish municipal policy with respect to the &diges an
official proclamation, policy, or edi¢t.Does v. Se. Deb Sch. Dist.272 F. Supp. 3d 656, 667
(E.D. Pa. 2017) (quotinigneipp v. Tedderd5 F.3d 1199, 1212 (3d Cir. 1996A municipal

custom, on the other hands ‘establishetby showing that a given course of conduct although

10 A viable Section 1983 claim requiré® existence dfa direct causal link between a
municipal policy or custom and the alleged constitutional deprivatitmh.{quotingCity of
Canton v. Harris489 U.S. 378, 385 (1989)).
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not specifically endorsed or authorized by law, is so well-settled and permanamntally to
constitute law” Kelty v. City of PhiladelphiaNo. CV 16-0306, 2016 WL 8716437, at *3 (E.D.
Pa. June 10, 2016) (quotiBgelevicz v. Dubinom15 F.2d 845, 850 (3d Cir. 1990)

Courts have generally recognized four sets of circumstaineesistence of which are
sufficient to establish a municipal pafior custom for purposes 8kection 1983 liability:(1) a
formal policy officially promulgated or endorsed by the municipatiggeMonell, 436 U.S. at
690; (2) notwithstanding the absence of a formal policy, specific ianging actiositaken by
a government officialvho is responsible for establishimgunicipal policiesseeBd. of County
Comnirs v. Brown,520 U.S. 397, 404-05 (199 Wembaur 475 U.Sat483 (3) notwithstanding
the absence of a formal policy practice so consistent and widespread that, although not
expressly authorized, constitutes a custom or usage of which a policymaker mustdrave
aware seeBd. of County Comms, 520 U.S. at 403-04Zity of St. Louis v. Praprotnikd85 U.S.
112, 127 (1988)Monell, 436 U.S. at 690-91; and (4) notwithstanding the absence of a formal
policy, awidespread failure by policymakers to provide adequate training or supervision to
subordinatesseeBd. of County Comms, 520 U.S. at 407City of Canton v. Harris489 U.S.
378, 388 (1989).

As observed previouslflaintiff is primarily pleading municipal liability based on a
failure to provide adequate training or supervis§mefendants’ staff-the fourth bas
identified above. Where an allegedly injurious policy “concerns a failuraitodr supervise
municipal employees, liability under section 1983 requires a showing thatltlre anounts to
‘deliberate indifferenceo the rights of persons with whom those employees will come into
contact.” Thomas v. Cumberland Cty49 F.3d 217, 222 (3d Cir. 2014) (quotidgrter v. City

of Phila.,181 F.3d 339, 357 (3d Cir. 1999)“[D]eliberate indifference’ is a stringent standard
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of fault, requiring proof that a municipal actor disregarded a known or obvious censedf
his action.” Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs of Bryan Cnt$20 U.Sat41Q “A pattern of similar
constitutional violations by untrained employee%islinarily necessatryo demonstrate
deliberate indifference for purposes of failure to trai@dnnick 563 U.S. at 62 (quotingd. Of
Cnty. Comm’rs of Bryan Cty520 U.S. at 409 Such a pattern of behavior is necessary to put
municipal policymakers on notice that a new prograredgsiired through continued adherence
to a policy they know or should know violates the rights of others, they demonstrate tielibera
indifference. Thomas 749 F.3cat 223. As the Supreme Colnasobserved, a lesser standard of
fault for failureto-train claims brought pursuant to Section 1983 “would resuleifacto
respondeat superidrability on municipalities—a result the Court explicitly rejecten Monell.
City of Canton489 U.S.at 392.

B. Application to Plaintiff's Allegations

Defendants argue the SAC is devoid of any specific factual allegations whidth wo
establish “a crucial aspect of [Plaintiff's] § 1983 claim, namely, a ‘pattesimilar

constitutional violations by untrained employees.” Defs.” Mem. at 10 (engpimagriginal).
The Court agrees. There simply are no facts alleged in the SAC which, sakee,avould
establish that the decedent’s death was nondortunateisolatedncident, let alone that
Defendants exhibited a patternbehavior similar to that which allegedly led to the decedent’s
death.

Although subparagraphs (a) — (q) of paragraph 64 purport to provide specific allegations
as to how Defendants “failed to provide proper staffing, training and supervision,” the

allegations contained in these subparagrapbémherently conclusory. Subparagrajaks— (q)

of paragraph 64 appear in full as follows:
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a. The repeated, systematic and omgdiilure to provide sufficiently staffed,
trained and supervised staff to meet the fundamental needs of Plaint#dene
including adequate training and supervision to properly evaluate her risk pf falls

b. The repeated, systematic and ongoirituffa to properly staff, train and
supervise medical and nursing staff to monitor, observe and assess the medical
condition of Plaintiff's decedent prior to her fall and after her fall;

C. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to adequatelfhiseatind

train appropriate and licensed medical and nursing personnel to properly monitor,
supervise, evaluate and treat Plaintiff's Decedent even after Defendants’ knew that
she suffered a serious fall and required emergency medical treatment;

d. Therepeated, systematic and ongoing retention of and assignment of unfit,
unqualified, insufficient and incompetent direct care staff, specificaflyuie of
nurses to do assessments, diagnoses and other acts outside of their scopeeof pract
and without training or supervision in violation of the Pennsylvania Nurse Pgactice
Act and the Medicare Act;

e. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to have sufficient numbers of
trained and supervised staff to provide medical, nursing and related sdovices
attain or maintain the highest practicable mental, physical and psychosocial well
being to Plaintiff's decedent;

f. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to providieo24 nursing
services from enough qualified, trained and supervised nypsirspnnel to meet
the total nursing needs of Plaintiff's decedent;

g. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to assure that nursing
personnel staffing, including registered nurses, certified nurse’s addgcensed
practical nurses, was sufiently trained and supervised to providetisur nursing
service, and was increased whenever necessary, to assure that Plaintifemtdeced
was protected from harm, injury and neglect and to enhance her quality of life,
dignity and safety;

h. The repead, systematic and ongoing failure to provide adequately trained
and supervised medical and nursing staff to prevent Plaintiff's decedent from
suffering pain and death as a result of a preventable fall and as a result of
Defendants failing to properly exame and evaluate the medical condition of
Plaintiff's decedent after her fall, which proper examination would have relveale
that her hip was fractured and that she was suffering a gastrointestimhldride

as a result of Defendants intentional refusallitain emergency medical care for
Plaintiff's decedent;

I. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to provide adequate
notification of changes in medical conditions to physicians;
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J- The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to provide adequately trained
and supervised medical staff to follow physiciamslers;

K. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to comply with corporate
budgeting policies which required sufficient funds for training and supervision of
staff and physicians to be consistent with the number of residents and with the needs
of residents including Plaintiff's decedent, whom Defendants had accepted and
promised to care for;

l. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to establish and/or provide
training and supervision for the implementation and/or enforcement of ateopri
corporate safety, training, staffing and fundamental nursing care and otherspolicie
to prevent harm to residents and to avoid the known consequences of inadequate
care, including falls and failure to properly diagnose serious anthtéatening
medcal conditions resulting therefrom such as hip fractures.

m. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to provide care for residents
in a manner and in such an environment as will promote maintenance or
enhancement of the quality of life of each desit, 42 U.S.C. § 1396r (b)(1)(A);

n. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to provide services and
activities to attain or maintain highest practicable physical, mental and
psychological wetbeing of each resident in accordance wittrigten plan of care

which (a) describes the medical, nursing and psychological needs of the resident
and how such needs will be met. 42 U.S.C. 81396r (b)(2)(A)

0. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to conduct a comprehensive,
accurate, staradtdized reproducible assessment of each resident’'s functional
capacity, which assessments (i) describe the resident’s capability donpeldily

life functions and significant impairments in functional capacity; (iv) including
identification of medical mblems; 42 U.S.C. 8 1396r (b)(3)(A);

p. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to provide services and
activities to attain or maintain the highest practicable physical, mental, and
psychological welbeing of each resident in accordance with a written plan of care,
and as appropriate, revise the resident’'s assessment to assure the continuing
accuracy of the assessment, and the results thereof shall be used in developing,
reviewing and revising the resident’s plan of care; 42 U.S.C. § 1396r et seq.

g. The repeated, systematic and ongoing failure to maintain clinical records on
all residents, which records include the plan of care as well as the results of any
pre-admission screening; 42 U.S.C. § 1396r (B)(6)(c).
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As is clear on their face, theallegations contain no substance. That each sé¢the
subparagraphs begins with the same languadfjfire-repeated, systematic and ongoing
failure’—furtherillustrates the conclusory nature of the allegations contained in:each
notwithstanding the repeated use of this langudgee tare simply no specific factual allegations
hereindicating exacthyhowthe complainegf conduct—failure to provide or perform in some
capacity—was “repeated, systematic and ongoifg.”

Nor are there any allegationsanyother part of the SAC that would provide specific
factual supportfor the conclusory assertion that Defendants engaged in a pattern of conduct that
was “repeated, systematic, and ongoinglthough the SAC l&egesthat “family and resident[s]
complain[ed] of inadequate staffing and inadequate training and supervisiorf césti#ting in
failures of care,'SAC | 75thisis also aconclusory assertioandthe only fleeting reference to
any sort of “complaints” hamg been made. Without a single nomclusory allegation
regardingother injurious condugcPlaintiff is necessarily unable to allefjeat in light of the
duties assigned t®fendantsstaff] the need for more or different trainifgas] so obvious,
and the inadequacy so likely to result in the violation of constitutional rights, that the
policymakers of the[Jefendantscan reasonably be said to hdeen deliberatelindifferent to
the need.”City of Canton v. Harris489 U.S. 378, 390 (198%eeConnick 563 U.S. at 62
(acknowledging that the existence of a “pattern” of behasitordinarily necessary to
demonstrate deliberate indifference for purposes of failure to Yy&iatris v. City of

Philadelphig 171 F. Supp. 3d 395, 400 (E.D. Pa. 2016) (“[P]roof of a single incident of

1 Nor doesPlaintiff do anythingn his opposition papers to rebut the argumentttiese

allegationsare inherently conclusory-e simply states that the SAC “provides specific factual
support of Defendants’ continuous, repeated and systematic conduct,” anepttoetluces the
conclusory allegations contained in paragraph 64(g).-SeePl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 10, at 6-8.
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unconstitutional activity is not sufficient to impose liability undonell, unless proof of the
incident includes proof that it was caused by an existing . . . municipal policy, which ganic
be attributed to a municipal policymaker.” (quoti@gy of Oklahoma City v. Tuttl&71 U.S.
808, 823-24 (1985) (plurality opinion)gee also Hope v. Fair Acres Geriatric Ctt.74 F.
Supp. 3d 880, 891 (E.D. Pa. 2016) (finding that general, conclusory allegations of insufficient
training were unable to support a Section 1983 claim founded on deliberate indifference).
Decisions inwhich courts have foundllegationssufficient to state a Section 1983 claim
on a theory of deliberatedifference show how, in contrast, Plaintiff's SAC is deficient. In
Robinson v. Fair Acres Geriatric Ctithe Third Circuit foundhe plaintiff'sallegationgo be
sufficientto support claim based on deliberate indifferemgminst a nursing honvehere
although the plaintiff “alleged only generally that training was inadequegenadequacy of
training can be plausibly inferred from [the] allegations regarding the nmumblecharacter of
deficiency citations issued to [the nursing hoilmgfederal ad state regulators.” 722 F. App’
194, 199-200 (3d Cir. 2018). The plaintiff had alleged that the nursing home “was cited with 30
deficiencies in its patient care[, which] put the facility in th& p@rcentile for number of
deficiencies.”ld. at200. In Thomas v. Cty. of Chester, Pocopson Haermourt in this district
found theplaintiff's allegationsagainst a nursing home sufficient to support a Section 1983
claim based on deliberate indifference wheeplaintiff alleged thahe decedentunderwent
dramatic weight loss in a six week periothatthe nursing homestaff was aware of his weight
loss, but refused to assist him with his meals or to develop a plan to ensure thaehgngas
and drinking enoughthat ‘the staff simply recorded his lack of sustenance and concomitant
decline” andthat“[a] s a direct result of the alleged inactifthe decedenthrrived at Chester

County Hospital in a state of severe dehydration and malnutrition, and died less tledn a we
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later” 312 F. Supp. 3d 448, 454 (E.D. Pa. 2018). In comparison to theseRlas@#}'s
allegations here are distinctly barr@md do not support an inference that there existed a pattern
of conduct that violated the decedent’sranyone else’s-rights.

The SAC alsol&eges that Defendants’ failure to follow “OBRA and FNHRA
regulations, which establish the minimum standard of care to be followed by Dafenda
violated thegldecedent’skonstitutional rights¥> SAC { 65. Subparagraphs (a) of
paragraph 65 of the SAC purport to identify specific violationsppiicable statutes and
regulations. They aver as follows:

a. A facility must immediately inform the resident and consult with the

resident’s physician when a significant change in the resident’s physerahlor

psychological status occurs. The Defendants failed to inform Plaintiffeddec,

or her physician of her significant change in her physical condition as theatsul

her fall and hip fracture and instead simply placed Plaintiff's decexdédrsd even

after Defendants knew or should have known that her hip was broken in violation
of 42 C.F.R. § 483.10 (b)(11)(i)(A);

12 OBRA is the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1987, Pub. L. 100-203, 101 Stat.
1330 (1987) FNHRA is he Federal Nursing Home Reform Amendments, 42 U.S.C. § £896r
seq. FNHRA is contained in OBRAThe Third Circuit explained their legislative origias
follows:

This federal legislation comes by its common name “OBRA” through the
legislative procesgCongress, then and now, usually completes a huge measure of
its budgetary and substantive work in one large bill. The bill accomplishing that
function in 1987 was entitled the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1987 or
“OBRA '87.” The separate Federal Nursing Home Reform Act together with many
other separate bills were “rolled into” one bill to insure final passage of all the
elements. Some courts have referred to the statutory provisions at issue herein as
the Federal Nursing Home Reform “AcBee e.gBlue v. Koren72 F.3d 1075 (2d
Cir.1995). Other courts refer to these provisions collectively as the Féllesihg

Home Reform “AmendmentsSee e.gGrant ex rel. Family Eldercare v.
Gilbert, 324 F.3d 383 (5th Cir.2003). We find the designation “ainemts” a

more accurate reflection of the legislative history.

Grammer v. John J. Kane Reg'l Cent&ien Hazel 570 F.3d 520, 523 (3d Cir. 2009).
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b. A facility must ensure that all alleged violatiomsolving mistreatment,
neglect or abuse including injuries of unknown source, are immediately reported to
the administrator of the facility and to other officials in accordance wité e
through established procedures (including to the state samweycertification
agency). The Defendants failed to notify the administrator and statesfficat
Plaintiff's decedent had suffered a fall due to the failure of Defendaatatoate,
document, update, maintain and confirm the use of fall protecaodsplaced her

in bed instead of notifying the appropriate individual and instead of seeking
immediate and emergency medical care in violation of 42 C.F.R. § 483.13 (c)(2);

C. A facility must care for its residents in a manner and in an environmént tha
promotes maintenance or enhancement of each resident’s quality of life, and here
the facility failed to do so by failing to take adequate measures to preveatlthe f
suffered by Plaintiff's decedent, and thereafter failed to obtain timelyicaled
evaludion and emergency medical care for her brokigphand gastrointestinal
bleeding in violation of 42 C.F.R. § 483.20 (b)(1)(xii);

d. The facility must make a comprehensive assessment of a resident’s needs,
using the resident assessment instrument (Bgdrified by the state, and here, the
Defendants failed to do so in violation of 42 C.F.R. § 483.20 (b)(1)(xii);

e. Each resident must receive, and the facility must provide, the necessary care
and services to attain or maintain the highest practigaltysical, mental, and
psychosocial welbeing, in accordance with the comprehensive assessment and
plan of care; and here, Defendants failed to provide care and services whidh w
have recognized the increasing risk that Plaintiff's decedent would sujfiees

and death as the result of a fall in violation of in violation of 42 C.F.R. § 483.25;

f. The facility must have sufficient nursing staff to provide nursing and celate
services to attain or maintain the highest practicable physical, merdal an
psychosocial wellbeing of each resident, as determined by resident asssssaml
individual plans of care, and here the Defendants failed to do so by failing to
provide staff necessary to properly monitor Plaintiff due to her increasing risk of
falls in violation of 42 C.F.R. § 483.30;

g. The facility must ensure that nurse aides are able to demonstrate
competency in skills and techniques necessary to care for resident’s needs, as
identified through resident assessments and described in the plaareof c
Defendants failed to ensure its nurses’ aides were able to demonstrateecmypet
and techniques necessary to care for Plaintiff's decedent’s needs, whichutedtri

to her suffering injuries in a preventable fall, her physical and mentahdghk

pain and suffering and her death.

h. The callous disregard for the known dangers caused by Defendants’
systematic and continuous practice of uAgaining and undesupervising its staff
and Defendants failure to comply with federal, state and liosed, as above
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referenced, and failure to comply with professional standards as aboencefir
caused and/or contributed to Plaintiffs’ fall, injuries and death;

I. By failing, as a custom and policy, to care for patients like Katherine
Schlaybach, irm manner that promoted maintenance or enhancement of her life as
required by 42 C.F.R. 8483.15 and 42 U.S.C. §1396r(b)(1)(A);

J- By failing, as a custom and policy, to care for patients like Katherine
Schlaybach, in a manner and environment that maintained and enhanced her dignity
as required by 42 C.F.R. 8483.15 and 42 U.S.C. 81396r(b)(1)(A);

k. By failing, as a custom and policy, to care for patients like Katherine
Schlaybach, in a manner and environment that maintained and enhanced her dignity
asrequired by 42 C.F.R. 8483.15 and 42 U.S.C. 81396r(b)(1)(A);

l. By failing, as a custom and policy, to develop a comprehensive care plan
for residents such as Katherine Schlaybach as required as required by 42 C.F.R.
8483.20 and 42 U.S.C. §1396r(b)(2){A

m. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach the care and service to allow her to maintain hebeialy as required
as required by 42 C.F.R. 8483.25 and 42 U.S.C. 81396r(b)(3)(A);

n. By failing, asa custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach to periodically review and revise written care plans by an
interdisciplinary team after each patient assessment the care and service to allow
her to maintain her welbeing as requed as required by 42 U.S.C. §1396r(b)(3)(A)

and (b(2)(C).

0. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach, and to conduct an assessment of a resident after a significaat chang
in the physical omental condition of the patient as required as required by 42
U.S.C. 81396r(b)(3)(A), (b) (3) (C) (i) (ii);

p. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach, and to use assessment results to develop an upalatqulan as
required as required by 42 U.S.C. 8§1396r(b)(3)(D);

g. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach the care and service to allow her to maintain hebwialh as required
as required by 42 C.F.R. 8483.45 and 42 U.S.C. 81396r(b)(4)(ii);

r. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach and to ensure that the personnel responsible for the care of Mrs.
Schlaybach were properly certified and qualifieghéoform the necessary nursing
services as required by 42 U.S.C. 81396r(b)(4)(B);
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S. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach, by failing to provide sufficient numbers of staff, including nursing, to
ensue her safety, and to allow her to maintain her aelhg as required as
required by 42 C.F.R. 8483.35 and 42 U.S.C. §1396r(b)(4)(C);

t. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach, by failing to maintaidimdcal records of all patients such as Mrs.
Schlaybach, including plans of care and risk assessments for matters suatgas fal
as required by 42 U.S.C. 81396r(b)(6)(C);

u. By failing, as a custom and policy, to ensure that Berks Heim Facility was
administered in a manner that enabled it to use its resources effectively to allow
patients to maintain their wetleing required as required by 42 C.F.R. 8483.75 and
42 U.S.C. 81396r(d)(A), (d) (1) (C);

V. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach, and by failing to ensure that the administrator of Beiiks, Flerrance
Brennan, met all standards of care as required by 42 U.S.C. §1396r(f) (4) and (d)

1) (©);

w. By failing, as a custom and policy, to provide for residents such as Katherine
Schlaybach, and by failing to ensure that the administrator of Beiks, Hlerrance
Brennan, and the Director of Nursing properly monitored and supervised
subordinate staff for the benefit of the health and safety of Kagh&chlaybach

as required by 42 U.S.C. 81396r(a) (W) and 42 C.F.R. 483.75

Although “[t]he Third Circuit has held that a municipality or county can be sued §nder

1983 for violations of the FNHRA!® Estate of Will v. Neshaminy Manor, Inblo. 11CV-

5482, 2013 WL 1187085, at *7 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 21, 2qtBng Grammar v. John J. Kane Reg'l

CentersGlen Hazel 570 F.3d 520, 529 (3d Cir.2009)), like any other Section 1983 claim

against a municipality, a plaintiff must still establish that the injury Waglirect result of a

municipal policy or customHere,Plaintiff's allegationgertaining tostatutory anaegulatory

violationsareinsufficient to support a Section 198&im for Defendants’ alleged conduct.

With the exception of perhaps subparagraphs (a) and (b), the above allegations are, on the whole

That is, FNHRA creates rights the violation of which are remediatldaghrSection
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inherently conclusoryEven accepting theeveralnon-conclusoryallegations as true, “the
occurrence of[a FNHRA] violation, standing alone, is not enouigih Monell liability; the
guestion is whether that violation is part of a municipal policy or custdtope v. Fair Acres
Geriatric Ctr.,, 174 F. Supp. 3d 880, 888 (E.D. Pa. 201&)e FAC isdevoid of any specific
factsthat would supporan inference that iwas Defendantsustom or policy to violate FNHRA
andthatthis custom or policy resulted in the decedent’s injury and subsequent 8eath.
Thomas312 F. Supp. 3d at 453-54 (finding allegations to be conclusory where they alleged a
nursing home “failed to comply with more than twenty separate provisions of the Alditior

its regulationg’ including that the home “fail[ed], as a custom or policy, to develop a
comprehensive care plan for patients as required by 42 C.F.R. 8 484.30 and 42 U.S.C. §
1369r(b)(2); and “fail[ed], as a custom and policy to provide sufficient nursing staff to provide
... services that would allow patients or residentda attain or maintain the highest
practicable, physical, mental, and psychological well-being, as required by 42 € 483.30
and42 U.S.C. 8§ 1396r(b)(4)(9)

Finally, o the extent Plaintiff is attempting to bas&ection 1983 claim on a policy or
custom established by Terrence Brennan, who the SAC alleggsequired to create approve
and implement glicies and procedures for the care and treatment of the residents of Berks Heim
Nursing and Rehabilitation,” SAC { 73, thas nosupportfor such a claim. The allegations
against Brenan are limited to the allegatignst quoted, sswell asthe allegabn that Brennan
“set in motion a series of events that they knew or reasonably should have known waaild caus
Defendants’ staff to deprive Plaintiff’'s decedent of her federally proteicfets” id. 69, and

that he, in addition to other staff, “failed, refused and/or neglected to perforras detjuired of
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them,id. 1 16. Like the SAC'’s other allegations, these allegations are inherentiysory and
lack any specific factualubstance.

Becaug the Court has determined tiRdaintiff has failed to sufficiently pleatie
existencea municipal policy or custom, his Section 1983 claim fadis matter of lawln the
absence of a municipal policy or custom, the Court need not, and in fact cannot, engage in the
remainder of the inquiry-+e., whether a municipal policy or custom deprived the decedent of a
right secured by the Constitution or federal law. Plaintiff's claim pursuant toS.ZU§ 1983 is
dismissed.

C. Leave to RePlead

The Court has previously determined that Plaintiff’'s negligence and wrongful death
claims are not viabldue to Defendants’ immunitySincethe other counts of the SAC do not
assert independent causes of action, the finding that Plaintiff’'s S&é&@3nclaim also fails
leaves no causes of action upon which Plaintiff's suit can prodéeaever,the Court is
obliged to consider whether to grant Plaintiff leave tple&xd some or all of his claim&ee
Kanter v. Barella489 F.3d 170, 181 (3d Cir. 20Q7%enerally,a plaintiff will be given the
opportunity to amend her complaint when there is an asserted defense of failatre & st
claim.”). Although leave to amend pleadings, when not as of right, shoufdeleéy give[n]
when justice so reques,” FED. R.Civ. P. 15(a)(2), the denial of leave to amend is appropriate
where there exists undue delay, bad faith, dilatory motive, or futligeHolst v. Oxman290 F.
App'x 508, 510 (3d Cir. 2008).

Here, the Court finds that allowing Plaintiéf te-plead his claims would be futile. As
discussed, his state law claaegligence and wrongful deatHa# as a matter of law as a

result of Defendants’ immunity under the Pennsylvania Tort Claims Act. Trer@additional
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factsthat could reviveghese claims. With respect to the only remaining cause of aetion
Plaintiff's Section 1983 claim-there have been no facts allegagbable of supporting an
inference thathe decedent’s injuries and subsequent death were caused by a municipal policy or
custom The absence of any such allegationsdehd Court to conclude that thdikely exist
no such facts. This conclusion is particulavigrranted in view of the fact that tB&AC is the
third iteration of PlaintiffsComplaint. To allow Plaintiff a fouh bite at the apple would, in the
absence of any indication that his claims might become viable, be injudiSeeskanter489
F.3dat 181(“Where an amended pleading would be futile, that alone is sufficient grodedyto
leaveto amend.”).
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, Defendants’ motidismisss granted The Second

Amended Complaint is dismissed, with prejudice. A separate Order follows tm®Rpi

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Jogph F. Leeson, Jr.

JOSEPH F. LEESON, JR.
United States District Judge
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